

#### Jerry J. Fan and Xi Huang

#### Contents

- 1 Introduction
  - 1.1 Tumor Heterogeneity and the Multi-Step Tumorigenic Process Are Necessary Considerations for Personalized Cancer Medicine
  - 1.2 Why Target Ion Channels in Cancer?
  - 1.3 Criteria for Selection of Studies in this Review
- 2 Ion Channel Expression in Human Cancer
  - 2.1 Dysregulated Expression
  - 2.2 Structural Variations and Copy Number Alterations
  - 2.3 Mutations
  - 2.4 Ion Channel Expression and Tumor Heterogeneity
- 3 Ion Channel Functions in Tumorigenesis
  - 3.1 Ion Channels in Tumor Initiation
  - 3.2 Ion Channels in Tumor Progression
  - 3.3 Ion Channels in Metastasis
  - 3.4 Ion Channels in Therapeutic Resistance and Tumor Recurrence
  - 3.5 Therapeutic Potential of Targeting Ion Channels
- 4 Emergent Areas of Ion Channels in Cancer and Outlook
  - 4.1 Ion Channels in Governing Local Ion Milieu
  - 4.2 Ion Channels in Regulating Cell-Cell Interactions
  - 4.3 Ion Channels in Sensing and Responding to Mechanical Environment

References

**Abstract** Ion channels are pore-forming transmembrane proteins that govern ion flux to regulate a myriad of biological processes in development, physiology, and disease. Across various types of cancer, ion channel expression and activity are often

J. J. Fan  $(\boxtimes)$  and X. Huang  $(\boxtimes)$ 

Program in Developmental and Stem Cell Biology, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada

Arthur and Sonia Labatt Brain Tumour Research Centre, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada

Department of Molecular Genetics, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: jj.fan@mail.utoronto.ca; xi.huang@sickkids.ca

dysregulated. We review the contribution of ion channels to multiple stages of tumorigenesis based on data from in vivo model systems. As intertumoral and intratumoral heterogeneities are major obstacles in developing effective therapies, we provide perspectives on how ion channels in tumor cells and their microenvironment represent targetable vulnerabilities in the areas of tumor-stromal cell interactions, cancer neuroscience, and cancer mechanobiology.

Keywords Bioelectrical signaling  $\cdot$  Cancer  $\cdot$  Ion channels  $\cdot$  Mechanobiology  $\cdot$  Membrane potential  $\cdot$  Metastasis  $\cdot$  Tumor heterogeneity  $\cdot$  Tumor initiation  $\cdot$  Tumor microenvironment  $\cdot$  Tumor progression

# 1 Introduction

# 1.1 Tumor Heterogeneity and the Multi-Step Tumorigenic Process Are Necessary Considerations for Personalized Cancer Medicine

Cancer is the second leading cause of death worldwide. Current standard-of-care is often non-specific and toxic to normal cells, causing side effects which reduce quality of life in survivors. Targeted therapeutic strategies have been developed through efforts in cancer genomics. Identification of oncogenic mutations, cellular mechanisms, and signaling networks have aided risk stratification and prediction of therapeutic response (The Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network 2008, 2011, 2012; The Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2012a, b). Tumorigenesis is a multi-step process which drives normal cells toward oncogenic transformation (initiation), stimulates tumor cells to survive and expand (progression), promotes dissemination and colonization of tumor cells at distant sites (metastasis), and confers therapeutic resistance (resistance and relapse). It is crucial to identify actionable targets in the exact step of tumorigenesis to develop effective therapeutic approaches.

Major obstacles remain in the fight against cancer. Malignant cells possess distinct phenotypic and functional characteristics between different tumors (intertumoral heterogeneity) and within individual tumors (intratumoral heterogeneity). Tumor heterogeneity is a vital consideration in validating therapeutic targets to eliminate tumor cell populations. Intertumoral heterogeneity hinders subtypeagnostic use of targeted therapies. Intratumoral heterogeneity creates therapyresistant subclones that underlie disease relapse. Intratumoral heterogeneity can arise from several sources. First, it can arise from subclonal genetic mutations (different tumor cells and their progeny acquire different mutations). Second, functional heterogeneity exists in the form of quiescent cancer stem cells, fast-cycling tumor cells, post-mitotic tumor cells, and tumor stromal cells, each with unique molecular profiles and chemosensitivity. Third, tumor cells can possess distinct biophysical heterogeneity, such as electrical and mechanical properties. Importantly, all cells regulate ionic homeostasis to maintain proper resting membrane potentials, and many cells within tumors are capable of generating electrical activity in response to cell extrinsic or intrinsic stimuli. Thus, tumor cells can form electrical networks with input from their local microenvironment. Recent work on electrical and chemical synapses in cancer has revealed that cancer is an electrically active entity and that these electrical networks can be therapeutically targeted. As central regulators of cellular electrical properties, ion channels are implicated in all steps of tumorigenesis.

# 1.2 Why Target Ion Channels in Cancer?

As pore-forming transmembrane proteins, ion channels are regulated by chemical and physical stimuli to mediate ion flux along electrochemical gradients (Hille 2001). The voltage-gated ion channel superfamily is encoded by over 140 genes in the human genome, making it the third largest group of signaling molecules after Gprotein-coupled receptors and kinases (Alexander et al. 2019). Broadly, ion channels can be classified as permeating anions or cations. Anion channels conduct chloride and other less abundant anions, while cation channels can be classified into potassium, sodium, and calcium-permeating families, in addition to the non-selective cation channels which include transient receptor potential (TRP) channels. Ion channels are present in all cells and regulate a myriad of biological processes ranging from rapid electrical signaling in excitatory cells to slower processes such as proliferation, volume regulation, migration, apoptosis, and hormone secretion. For example, ion channels control cell excitability through action potential propagation and regulate membrane potential during cell cycle progression and proliferation (Lang et al. 2005). Coordinated ion channel activity mediates cell migration (Schwab et al. 2012) through differential subcellular channel distribution and local ion flux at leading or trailing edge membranes (Schwab et al. 1995; Schneider et al. 2000; Huang et al. 2015). In addition, ion channels relay information from the extracellular environment (e.g., ion concentration, osmolarity, voltage, mechanics) and integrate external cues into signaling cascades within tumor cells. Ion channels promote tumor growth and survival, render cancer cells resistant to apoptotic and anti-proliferative signals, or play tumor-suppressive roles to prevent aberrant proliferation or oncogenic transformation.

Many ion channels have well-studied pharmacology and frequently localize at the cell surface, making them accessible drug targets. Small molecule ion channel modulators have been identified by high-throughput screening for proof of concept preclinical studies. Medicinal chemistry of existing chemical structures or rational design of small molecules can be guided by information on ion channel protein structures, domains that confer ion selectivity, and electrophysiological characteristics. Therefore, as the molecular targets of approximately 15% of US FDA-approved drugs (Overington et al. 2006), ion channels represent prime candidates for drug

repurposing to treat cancer. Through use of classic methods (such as patch clamp) in conjunction with more recent approaches (such as automated patch clamp, genetically encoded voltage/ion indicators, optogenetics, and chemogenetics), ion channel function in tumorigenesis can now be dissected with unprecedented resolution.

#### 1.3 Criteria for Selection of Studies in this Review

In this review we highlight ways in which the fields of ion channel and cancer biology intersect (Table 1). First, we review how ion channel expression and alterations have been implicated in multiple steps of tumorigenesis. Second, we highlight in vivo evidence of ion channel function in cancer. While many pioneering studies were performed using cancer cells lines, in vitro systems do not adequately model complex tumor cellular architecture, microenvironment, drug bioavailability, and organismal toxicity. Thus, we focus on in vivo findings primarily in the form of orthotopic xenograft tumor models or genetically engineered animal models. We discuss examples of pharmacological targeting of ion channels with emphasis on drug repurposing, medicinal chemistry, use of preclinical models, and consideration for side effects. Third, we discuss emergent areas of ion channel function in cancer. Ion channels may mediate tumor cell co-option of neuronal synapses to establish electrical networks in cancer. Cell non-autonomous interactions and propagation of electrical activity in cancer require ion channels and gap junctions. Furthermore, mechanosensitive ion channels can perceive and respond to the altered tissue mechanics in cancer to regulate malignant progression. We provide perspectives on these aspects as the field moves forward.

We refer readers to excellent complementary reviews of ion channels in cancer (Bates 2015; Prevarskaya et al. 2018) and their breakdown by ion type: potassium (Pardo and Stühmer 2014; Huang and Jan 2014), sodium (Djamgoz and Onkal 2012; Fraser et al. 2014; Roger et al. 2015), calcium (Yang et al. 2010; Monteith et al. 2017), TRP channels (Santoni and Farfariello 2011; Prevarskaya et al. 2011; Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2013), chloride (Cuddapah and Sontheimer 2011; Peretti et al. 2015), and bioelectrical signaling (Tuszynski et al. 2017; Payne et al. 2019). As we discuss ion channel classes, in each section we present them in the order of potassium, calcium, sodium, chloride, and non-selective channels.

#### 2 Ion Channel Expression in Human Cancer

Molecular classification and gene expression analysis allow the distinction between cancers with favorable diagnosis, which can be managed with conservative treatment, from those associated with poor prognosis, which require more aggressive therapy. The expression of a single ion channel or group (gene signature) may offer value in stratifying risk and determining the treatment plan. Ion channel expression Table 1 Ion channels that are implicated in cancer growth in vivo

Reference	(Scholl et al. 2013)	(Choi et al. 2011; Scholl et al. 2017)	(Starr et al. 2009; Than et al. 2014)	(Starr et al. 2009; Than et al. 2016) (Neglia et al. 1995; Maisonneuve et al. 2013)	(Leanza et al. 2012, 2013, 2017)	(Pardo et al. 1999) (Hartung et al. 2011; Napp et al. 2016)	(Huang et al. 2012, 2015)	(Huang et al. 2015)	(Piggott et al. 2019)	(Francisco et al. 2020)	(Chen et al. 2018)	(Takahashi et al. 2018)	(Jung et al. 2019; Kasitinon et al. 2019)	(Mikhaylova et al. 2012; Hall et al. 2014)	(Stock et al. 2012; de Jong et al. 2014)	(Huang et al. 2015)	(Turner et al. 2014)	(Yang et al. 2009)	(Girault et al. 2011; Chantome et al. 2013)
Therapeutic relevance	n.d.	Macrolide antibiotics normalize mutant KCNJ5 currents in cancer cells	n.d.	.p.n	PAP-1 derivatives inhibit KCNA3 to elicit tumor-specific apoptosis	EAG1 antibody visualizes and targets tumor cells	FDA-approved thioridazine inhibits EAG2 and displays anti-tumor efficacy in a medulloblastoma patient	.p.u	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	TRPA1 inhibitor AM-0902 reduces tumor growth and confers chemosensitivity	n.d.	NSAID mefenamic acid inhibits TRPM3 and reduces <i>in vivo</i> tumor growth	TRPV1 agonist arvanil prolongs survival of glioma-bearing mice	FDA-approved thioridazine inhibits EAG2 and reduces metastatic burden in a medulloblastoma patient	n.d.	SKF96365 inhibits store-operated Ca <sup>2+</sup> entry and reduces breast-to-lung metastasis	Ohmline disrupts KCNN3-Orai1 localization and impairs breast-to-bone metastasis
Model	Human sequencing	Human sequencing	Mouse genetics	Mouse genetics, Human patients	Mouse xenograft	Mouse xenograft	Mouse xenograft, Human patient, <i>Drosophila</i>	Mouse xenograft	Drosophila	Mouse genetics, Mouse xenograft, <i>Drosophila</i>	Mouse xenograft, Drosophila	Mouse xenograft	Mouse xenograft	Mouse xenograft	Mouse genetics, Mouse xenograft	Mouse xenograft, Human patient	Mouse xenograft	Mouse xenograft	Mouse xenograft
Cancer type	Endocrine	Endocrine	Gastrointestinal	Gastrointestinal	Leukemia, melanoma, pancreatic	Melanoma, pancreatic, prostate	Medulloblastoma	Medulloblastoma	<i>Drosophila</i> brain neoplasia	Medulloblastoma	Glioma	Breast, lung	Melanoma, bladder, head and neck cancer	Clear cell renal cell carcinoma	Glioma, gastrointestinal	Medulloblastoma	Glioma	Breast	Breast
Nature of dysregulation	Mutation	Mutation	Loss of function	Loss of function	Expression	Overexpression	Overexpression	Overexpression	Expression	Overexpression	Overexpression	Overexpression	Overexpression	Overexpression	Overexpression	Overexpression	Overexpression	Expression	Expression
Ion channel	CACNA1D	KCNJ5	KCNQ1	CFTR	KCNA3	EAG1	EAG2/eag	KCNT2	Paralytic	CLIC1/clic	PIEZO1/piezo	TRPA1	TRPML1	TRPM3	TRPV1	EAG2	KCNN4	Orai1/STIM1	Orai1/KCNN3
Tumorigenic process	process Tumor Initiation								Tumor	promoting					Tumor suppressive	Metastasis			

The table lists ion channels implicated in specific stages of tumorigenesis and evidence on pharmacological targeting of ion channels. n.d. not determined

# Ion Channels in Cancer: Orchestrators of Electrical Signaling and Cellular...

is frequently dysregulated in cancer, occurring through various mechanisms, such as amplification, copy number alterations, mutations, and overexpression.

### 2.1 Dysregulated Expression

In breast and prostate cancer, decreased expression of potassium channel KCNA3 correlates with increased tumor grading (Abdul and Hoosein 2006; Brevet et al. 2009; Comes et al. 2013). Potassium channel EAG1 (KCNH1) is overexpressed in a wide array of cancers, including breast, prostate, colon, lung, liver, and soft tissue sarcoma (Hemmerlein et al. 2006; Mello de Queiroz et al. 2006). In addition to solid tumors, EAG1 expression is also elevated in myelodysplastic syndrome and leukemia (AML and CML), where high *EAG1* expression in AML predicts poor outcome (Agarwal et al. 2010). In normal tissues, EAG1 is mainly expressed in the brain with restricted expression in the periphery (Hemmerlein et al. 2006). Broad EAG1 overexpression across tumor types offers great therapeutic potential. Through conjugation to fluorescent or apoptosis-inducing ligands, EAG1-targeting antibodies can be used to visualize (Napp et al. 2016) or kill EAG1-expressing tumor cells (Hartung et al. 2011).

Potassium channel HERG1 (KCNH2) is highly expressed in colorectal cancers, while HERG1 is not detected in the normal colonic mucosa. In agreement with its expression being further elevated in metastatic disease, HERG1 regulates colon cancer cell invasiveness in vitro (Lastraioli et al. 2004). In the pediatric brain tumor medulloblastoma, potassium channels EAG2 (KCNH5) and KCNT2 are upregulated in several molecular subgroups (Huang et al. 2012, 2015).

In non-small cell lung cancer (Bonnet et al. 2007) and glioma (Preußat et al. 2003), potassium channel KCNA5 expression is inversely correlated with higher tumor grade. Low expression of KCNQ1 is associated with poor patient prognosis in gastrointestinal cancer (Than et al. 2014) and colon cancer (den Uil et al. 2016). Elevated expression of small conductance potassium channel KCNN4 is found in glioma and clear cell renal carcinoma. KCNN4 overexpression is associated with poor survival and increased metastatic potential, with *KCNN4* mRNA expression being further elevated in metastatic tumors compared to non-metastatic renal carcinomas (Turner et al. 2014; Rabjerg et al. 2015). In non-small cell lung cancer, promoter hypomethylation and increased *KCNN4* expression are associated with poor progression-free survival and overall survival (Bulk et al. 2015).

Store-operated calcium channel *ORAI1* is overexpressed in gastrointestinal stromal tumors and correlates with high-risk grading. Loss of ORAI1-mediated storeoperated calcium suppresses tumor cell proliferation and induces apoptosis in vitro (Wang et al. 2017b). Mechanosensitive cation channel PIEZO1 is overexpressed in glioma, glioblastoma, breast cancer, and gastric cancer and is associated with poor prognosis (Li et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2018; Chen et al. 2018). Transient receptor potential channel *TRPA1* is overexpressed in a variety of cancer types, including breast, kidney, lung, and malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors. In breast and lung cancer, *TRPA1* overexpression promotes oxidative stress tolerance and chemoresistance and is associated with worse patient survival (Takahashi et al. 2018). TRP channel TRPM3 is overexpressed in clear cell renal carcinoma relative to normal kidney. In particular, TRMP3 expression is elevated in VHL-mutant tumors relative to VHL-wild type tumors (Hall et al. 2014). The vanilloid receptor TRPV1 is highly expressed in high-grade astrocytomas compared to non-tumor brain, and *TRPV1* expression positively correlates with tumor grading (Stock et al. 2012). Elevated expression of TRPML1 is associated with a worse prognosis in melanoma (Kasitinon et al. 2019) and in HRAS-driven bladder and head and neck cancers (Jung et al. 2019). Increased expression of TRPML2 is found in glioma of higher pathological grades (Morelli et al. 2016).

Chloride intracellular channel CLIC1 is overexpressed in multiple brain cancer types, including medulloblastoma, glioma, ependymoma, atypical teratoid rhabdoid, and primitive neuroectodermal tumors (Francisco et al. 2020). Additionally, CLIC1 is overexpressed in glioblastoma, pancreatic, lung, and gallbladder cancer, and elevated CLIC1 expression correlates with worse overall survival (Wang et al. 2011; Setti et al. 2013; Ding et al. 2015; Lu et al. 2015; Jia et al. 2016). CLIC1 overexpression in gastric cancer correlates with increased metastasis, invasion, and poor prognosis (Chen et al. 2007; Li et al. 2018). Calciumactivated chloride channel TMEM16A is upregulated in over 75% of pancreatic cancers, and high TMEM16A expression is associated with poor patient survival (Crottès et al. 2019).

In a cohort of low-grade to high-grade gliomas, an 18-ion channel gene signature predicts survival. Downregulation of 16 out of 18 ion channel genes is associated with high-grade gliomas and shorter survival (Wang et al. 2015). Among these, high KCNB1 and KCNJ10 expression correlate with favorable prognosis, while high CLIC1 and CLIC4 expression correlate with worse survival. In a separate cohort, KCNB1 expression inversely correlates with glioma prognosis, and KCNB1 overexpression induces autophagy and reduces tumor cell growth (Wang et al. 2017a). In a comparison between glioblastoma stem cells and normal neural cell types, KCNB1 is among four GSC-enriched ion channels associated with survival. shRNA-mediated KCNB1 knockdown reduces GSC viability in vitro (Pollak et al. 2017). Analysis of different patient cohorts may underlie these inconsistent findings, and further analysis is required to determine whether KCNB1 has oncogenic or tumor suppressive functions. Alternatively KCNB1 may play opposing roles in GSCs compared to more differentiated tumor cell types, a hypothesis that has not been definitively tested. Given the wide array of overexpressed ion channels, gene regulatory pathways may be leveraged as a cancer-specific vulnerability. For example, oncogenic mutations in chromatin remodeling factors may promote ion channel gene transcription and oncogenic transcription factors may bind regulatory elements of ion channel genes. Functional validation is crucial in determining whether ion channel overexpression is causal or correlative in cancer.

# 2.2 Structural Variations and Copy Number Alterations

Structural variations can lead to oncogene amplification, tumor suppressor deletion, or ectopic fusion genes with hypermorphic, hypomorphic, or neomorphic properties. *KCNK9* is overexpressed or amplified in breast, lung, ovarian, and colorectal cancers (Mu et al. 2003; Kim et al. 2004; Innamaa et al. 2013). Functionally, KCNK9 overexpression confers resistance to hypoxia and serum deprivation, resulting in enhanced growth of human breast cancer cells in vitro (Mu et al. 2003). *TRPA1* is amplified in a subset of breast cancers and malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors (Takahashi et al. 2018). The impact of copy number alterations on ion channels in cancer has not been fully characterized. Integration of copy number and gene expression data should reveal additional cases of amplification or deletion-dependent ion channel dysregulation.

Rare *PIEZO1-RSPO2* fusions are present in traditional serrated adenomas (TSA) (Hashimoto et al. 2019), although the functional consequence remains unknown. The fusion spans exon 1 of *PIEZO1* and exon 3 of *RSPO2*, comprising only 21 N-terminal amino acids of PIEZO1 while retaining critical functional domains of RSPO2. The relatively minor contribution of PIEZO1 amino acids suggest that *PIEZO1* promoter, rather than ion conductance, contributes to the fusion product to promote *RSPO2*-dependent WNT activation. Colon cancers harbor other recurrent fusions comprising *RSPO* genes (Seshagiri et al. 2012), highlighting a convergence on aberrant RSPO function in tumorigenesis. Many oncogenic fusions involving receptor tyrosine kinases display constitutive kinase activity due to truncation of regulatory domains. In contrast, there has been a paucity of fusion products comprising ion channel genes in cancer. One possible reason may be that ion channel function requires stereotyped membrane topology, and truncations abolishing gating or pore-forming domains may not be beneficial to the cancer cell.

### 2.3 Mutations

A subset of endocrine tumors (aldosterone-producing adenomas) harbor recurrent somatic and germline mutations in *KCNJ5*, an inwardly rectifying potassium channel, and *CACNA1D*, a voltage-gated calcium channel. *KCNJ5* mutations occur near the potassium selectivity filter and reduce potassium while increasing sodium conductance (Choi et al. 2011). *CACNA1D* mutations reside in the S6 pore-lining segment, which increases calcium influx (Scholl et al. 2013). Glioblastomas harbor sodium, calcium, and potassium channel mutations associated with poor prognosis (Joshi et al. 2011).

Metastatic urothelial carcinomas contain somatic missense mutations in ion channel genes including *CACNA1S*, *KCNK9*, and *SCN8A* (Sharma et al. 2019). As this data comes from the case report of a single patient, the prevalence and functional consequence of these ion channel mutations is unknown. There exist few reports of

highly recurrent ion channel mutations spanning multiple cancer types, suggesting that ion channels may not simply be categorized as oncogenes or tumor suppressors. Rather, ion channel mutations in cancer are context and cell-type dependent.

### 2.4 Ion Channel Expression and Tumor Heterogeneity

To date, whether ion channel expression displays heterogeneity in cancer has been poorly explored. Expression heterogeneity can occur between patients (intertumoral), within different regions of the tumor (intratumoral), or change with disease progression (temporal). As an example of intertumoral heterogeneity, Group 4 medulloblastomas, which comprise one third of all medulloblastomas, display overexpression of potassium channel KCNA1. Immunohistochemical detection of KCNA1 is routinely used for molecular subgrouping (Northcott et al. 2011; Remke et al. 2011; Taylor et al. 2012), although KCNA1 function in medulloblastoma remains undetermined. Interestingly, integrated DNA methylation and gene expression analysis reveal enrichment of ion channel genes in a subset of SHH-activated medulloblastoma (Cavalli et al. 2017). In addition to being overexpressed in multiple tumor types, TRPA1 is enriched in breast cancer with the exception of the normallike subtype (Takahashi et al. 2018). Intratumor heterogeneity implies that distinct cells within the same tumor are dependent on different oncogenic events and that monotherapy will be insufficient. Likewise, temporal heterogeneity indicates that genetic alterations identified at diagnosis evolve as new mutations arise following treatment. Ion channel dysregulation in spatial or temporal tumor heterogeneity remains to be explored. We note that such studies are of great importance and will elucidate whether specific ion channels represent stable or dynamic therapeutic targets in cancer.

It is also important to note that genomic and proteomic analyses cannot entirely predict ionic events. Post-transcriptional and post-translational modifications regulate ion channel folding, stability, and trafficking to membrane domains. Various modes of stimulation govern the "on" or "off" state of ion channels. Furthermore, electrogenic proteins, including ion channels and transporters, work in concert to maintain ionic homeostasis and cellular resting membrane potential (Vmem), which can exert critical influence on cancer cell behavior (Yang and Brackenbury 2013; Payne et al. 2019). Therefore, it is crucial to consider how electrical signals propagate through tumors and holistically investigate ion channels at the genomic, proteomic, and physiological levels.

#### **3** Ion Channel Functions in Tumorigenesis

## 3.1 Ion Channels in Tumor Initiation

A DNA transposon-based forward genetic screen implicates potassium channel Kcnq1 and chloride channel Cftr loss-of-function in the initiation of murine gastrointestinal cancer (Starr et al. 2009). Intestinal-specific knockout of Cftr or global knockout of Kcnq1 in the sensitized  $Apc^{min}$  mouse model of intestinal cancer increases tumor incidence (Than et al. 2014, 2016). These two channels are proposed to functionally interact in healthy intestinal epithelium, where Kcnq1-mediated basolateral potassium export provides the electrochemical drive for apical export of chloride by Cftr. Transcriptomic analysis of Kcnq1-or Cftr-deficient tumors displays enrichment for dysregulation of immune response and lipid metabolism. However, the mechanism by which loss of Kcnq1 or Cftr initiates gastrointestinal cancer remains to be fully defined. Interestingly, CFTR mutations are causal for cystic fibrosis, and patients with cystic fibrosis have increased risk of digestive tract cancers (Neglia et al. 1995; Maisonneuve et al. 2013), providing relevance for the mouse data to human disease.

Somatic and germline gain-of-function mutations in calcium and potassium channel genes are suggested to initiate human endocrine tumors (Choi et al. 2011; Scholl et al. 2013). In approximately 40% of adrenal aldosterone-producing adenomas, recurrent mutations localize near the potassium selectivity filter of *KCNJ5*. Expression of mutant KCNJ5 in HEK293T and glomerulosa cells causes membrane depolarization attributable to reduced potassium selectivity and increased sodium conductance (Choi et al. 2011). Subsequent depolarization is proposed to activate voltage-gated calcium channels and increase intracellular calcium, thereby promoting aldosterone production and cell proliferation. A high-throughput screen in a HEK293 inducible expression system identified compounds which inhibit mutant KCNJ5. A series of clinically approved macrolides, bacteriostatic antibiotics with established safety profiles and oral bioavailability, suppresses mutant KCNJ5-dependent sodium conductance and normalizes aldosterone production in human adrenocortical cancer cells (Scholl et al. 2017). This study highlights the promise of drug repurposing to target ion channels in cancer.

Mutations in *CACNA1D*, which encodes a L-type voltage-gated calcium channel, occur in 11% of aldosterone-producing adenomas. All seven identified *CACNA1D* mutations affect conserved residues near the transmembrane S6 domain. Expression of mutant CACNA1D in HEK293 cells facilitates channel opening at less depolarized potentials. Through impaired inactivation, this leads to sustained channel activation and increased calcium influx. Thus, *CACNA1D* and *KCNJ5* mutations both lead to increased calcium influx to induce depolarization (Scholl et al. 2013). Given that *KCNJ5* and *CACNA1D* mutations are mutually exclusive, de novo germline mutations occur at the same locations as somatic mutations, and there is a lack of additional somatic mutations in these tumors, single ion channel mutations may be sufficient to initiate aldosterone-producing adenomas. Functional studies to



**Fig. 1** Ion channels in tumor initiation. Dysregulated expression or function of several ion channels has been implicated in tumor initiation. Sequencing of human endocrine tumors identifies recurrent mutations in potassium channel *KCNJ5* and calcium channel *CACNA1D*. *KCNJ5* mutation promotes sodium over potassium conductance, depolarization, and activation of voltage-gated calcium channels. *CACNA1D* mutations impair channel inactivation and increase calcium influx. Mutations in these channels converge on increasing intracellular calcium and aldosterone production to promote cell proliferation. Through forward genetic screens, KCNQ1 and CFTR loss of function have been identified as tumor initiating events in mouse gastrointestinal cancers. Transcriptomic analysis of resulting tumors implicates perturbed immune response and lipid metabolism. The mechanism by which perturbed potassium and chloride homeostasis induce gastrointestinal cancers remains to be elucidated

induce these mutations in relevant cell types using genetically engineered animal models will fully define the role of these altered ion channels in tumor initiation. Overall, the small number of studies implicating ion channels in tumor initiation indicates that ion channels may be more often co-opted by cancer cells to regulate tumor progression and maintenance, following the oncogenic event that initiated the tumor (Fig. 1).

# 3.2 Ion Channels in Tumor Progression

As an evolving disease, cancer cells may no longer depend on initiating genes during tumor progression. The demonstration that EAG1 promotes tumor progression in subcutaneous xenograft models is among the first reports to implicate ion channels in tumor progression (Pardo et al. 1999).

#### 3.2.1 Tumor-Promoting Ion Channels

In medulloblastoma, an ion channel network cooperates to regulate cell proliferation (Fig. 2). Voltage-gated potassium channel EAG2 (KCNH5) localizes to the plasma membrane during late G2 phase and mitosis, followed by KCNT2 (a potassium channel activated by sodium and chloride) enrichment to the plasma membrane during metaphase to telophase. Genetic knockdown of either potassium channel reduces human medulloblastoma cell growth in vitro and in mouse xenograft models (Huang et al. 2015). Specifically, EAG2 deficiency causes ectopic cell volume increase, activation of the p38 MAPK pathway, G2 arrest and mitotic catastrophe



**Fig. 2** Cell autonomous functions of ion channels in tumorigenesis. Ion channels in cancer display great diversity with regard to subcellular localization and intracellular signaling. Plasma membranelocalized ion channels CLIC1 and EAG2, both of which are present at lipid rafts, and KCNT2 function cooperatively. During late G2 and mitosis, chloride and potassium efflux reduces premitotic cell volume for cell cycle progression and tumor cell proliferation. Plasma membranelocalized TRP channels TRPM3 and TRPA1 engage autophagy and RAS/PI3K/mTOR signaling respectively to promote tumor cell survival. Potassium channel KCNA3 has localization-dependent functions in cancer. KCNA3 on the plasma membrane promotes cell cycle progression, and KCNA3 at the inner mitochondrial membrane regulates mitochondrial membrane potential and production of reactive oxidative species (ROS) to suppress apoptosis. Endolysosomal channel TRPML1 regulates proteostasis and macropinocytosis through ERK/mTOR signaling to promote tumor cell survival (Huang et al. 2012). Screening of FDA-approved drugs identifies the antipsychotic thioridazine as an EAG2 channel inhibitor, which reduces tumor progression and prolongs survival in xenograft medulloblastoma mouse models. Furthermore, thioridazine displays efficacy in a human patient with relapsed metastatic medulloblastoma. Thioridazine treatment reduced tumor volume, providing the first proof-of-principle for using an ion channel blocker in treating brain tumor patients (Huang et al. 2015). Ultimately the patient did not tolerate prolonged treatment due to mood lability and depression, which is likely due to the inhibitory effect of thioridazine on dopaminergic and serotonergic receptors. These results demonstrate promise for clinical application of EAG2 inhibition in cancer and highlight the need to develop blockers with improved on-target specificity.

Chloride intracellular channel CLIC1 regulates cell volume homeostasis and cell cycle progression of rapidly dividing medulloblastoma cells (Fig. 2). CLIC1 colocalizes with EAG2 at lipid raft microdomains on the plasma membrane during mitosis. CLIC1 deficiency suppresses in vivo tumor growth in xenograft and genetic mouse models of medulloblastoma. EAG2, KCNT2, and CLIC1 mediate potassium and chloride efflux respectively, to synergistically regulate cell volume, premitotic cytoplasmic condensation, and cell proliferation. Loss of the orthologous clic and eag channels reduces brain tumor growth in *Drosophila* (Huang et al. 2015; Francisco et al. 2020). These results reveal an evolutionarily conserved role for CLIC1 and EAG2 in brain tumor growth and highlight functionally coupled ion channels as vulnerabilities in tumor progression.

Paralytic, which encodes the sole voltage-gated sodium channel in *Drosophila*, regulates the proliferative output of neuroblasts (*Drosophila* neural stem cells). Furthermore, loss of paralytic exerts tumor-suppressive effects in multiple *Drosophila* neuroblast-derived models of brain tumor (Piggott et al. 2019). Sodium channels with similar function in mammalian brain tumors remain unexplored.

Tissue stiffening frequently occurs during solid tumor progression. For example, glioma aggression and patient prognosis correlate with increasing tumor stiffness (Miroshnikova et al. 2016). Mechanosensitive cation channel PIEZO1 is overexpressed in human gliomas. PIEZO1 localizes at focal adhesions of glioblastoma stem cell processes, where its activation induces calcium influx and integrin-FAK signaling to promote extracellular matrix remodeling and tissue stiffening. The stiffer microenvironment elevates PIEZO1 expression to increase glioma cell proliferation. Therefore, PIEZO1 orchestrates a feedforward loop in which it promotes glioma stiffness and malignancy by sensing and responding to heightened tissue stiffness (Fig. 3). Targeting Piezo in *Drosophila* glioma models or PIEZO1 in glioblastoma xenograft mouse models suppresses tumor growth in vivo (Chen et al. 2018).

Potassium channel KCNA3 is expressed in several tumor types (Comes et al. 2013) and represents an actionable target to induce cancer cell death. In subcutaneous models of human lung adenocarcinoma and mouse melanoma, KCNA3 localizes to the plasma membrane and inner mitochondrial membrane, where it regulates cancer cell proliferation and apoptosis, respectively (Jang et al. 2011; Leanza et al. 2012) (Fig. 2). During lymphocyte apoptosis, apoptotic regulator BAX interacts



**Fig. 3** Ion channel function in tumor cell invasiveness and non-autonomous interactions. Ion channels regulate cancer cell invasiveness and migration through distinct mechanisms. EAG2-mediated potassium efflux leads to local cell volume reduction and retraction of the trailing edge to facilitate cell migration. Potassium channel KCNN4 regulates cell invasiveness, while the mechanism has not been described. Several studies described store-operated calcium channel ORAI1 in cancer metastasis. ORAI1 activates in cooperation with co-localized KCNN3 and STIM1 at the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). ORAI1 activation and subsequent calcium influx enhances focal adhesion turnover. Human brain tumor cells express TRPV1, which can be activated by endovanilloids secreted by neural progenitor cells which home to the tumor. TRPV1 activation induces ER stress and tumor cell apoptosis. In gastric cancer models, TRPV1 activation inhibits EGFR-mediated cell proliferation. By localizing to glioma cell focal adhesions, PIEZO1 senses tumor stiffness to increase its own expression, cell proliferation, and integrin and extracellular matrix (ECM) remodeling to increase tumor stiffness and malignancy

with and inhibits mitochondrial KCNA3, causing mitochondrial membrane hyperpolarization, production of reactive oxidative species, and cytochrome C release (Szabo et al. 2008). Small molecule KCNA3 inhibitors, such as PAP-1, exhibit 23to 125-fold selectivity over related Kv1 family members (Schmitz et al. 2005). Recently developed synthetic PAP-1 derivatives display increased specificity toward mitochondrial KCNA3 (Leanza et al. 2017). Administration of PAP-1 derivatives elicits tumor-specific apoptosis in leukemic, melanoma, and pancreatic cancer cells in vitro and in orthotopic xenograft models. Importantly, while KCNA3 is expressed in many organs, its inhibition does not seem to induce apoptosis in non-tumoral organs, including the brain, heart, liver, spleen, and kidney (Leanza et al. 2012, 2013, 2017). Interestingly, siRNA-mediated KCNA3 knockdown fails to induce cancer cell apoptosis (Leanza et al. 2012), highlighting a distinction between pharmacological versus genetic perturbation. In the latter case, other genes regulating ion homeostasis and mitochondrial membrane potential may compensate for KCNA3 deficiency. While the effects of KCNA3 inhibition on normal physiology besides inducing cell death require further examination, these findings highlight KCNA3 as a tumor-specific target.

As reactive oxidative species (ROS) readily accumulate in cancer cells, adaptation to oxidative stress is crucial for tumor progression. ROS signals through oxidant defense factor NRF2 to mediate an anti-oxidant defense program and induce expression of the redox-sensitive cation channel TRPA1. ROS elevation induces TRPA1mediated calcium influx and upregulates RAS-ERK, PI3K/AKT, and mTORdependent pro-survival cues, as well as MCL-1-mediated anti-apoptotic signaling (Fig. 2). TRPA1 knockdown reduces tumor growth in patient-derived xenograft (PDX) breast cancer models. TRPA1 inhibition using AM-0902, an orally bioactive TRPA1 inhibitor, reduces PDX tumor growth in vivo, although the short plasma half-life of AM-0902 may pose challenges for bioavailability (Takahashi et al. 2018). As TRPA1 inhibitors are in clinical trials for pain and respiratory diseases, this study demonstrates the clinical prospect of TRPA1-based therapy in breast cancer.

Endolysosomal cation channel TRPML1 represents a critical dependency in human melanoma cells but not normal melanocytes. TRPML1 loss decreases melanoma cell growth in vitro and in xenograft models through elevating MAPK and mTORC1 activity, ultimately impairing macropinocytosis and inducing proteotoxic stress (Kasitinon et al. 2019). TRPML1 function in tumorigenesis may differ depending on cancer type. For example, TRPML1 inhibition has opposing effects on elevating and attenuating ERK signaling in melanoma cells (Kasitinon et al. 2019) and HRAS-driven human carcinoma cells (Jung et al. 2019), respectively. TRPML1 in HRAS-driven cancers mediates cholesterol distribution, HRAS nanoclustering, and ERK phosphorylation to maintain signaling and proliferation (Jung et al. 2019). These studies suggest a role for TRPML1 in endolysosomal fusion to create a permissive environment for oncogenic signaling. The exact mechanism by which TRPML1 activity in tumor cells regulates cholesterol transport and endolysosomes remains to be defined (Fig. 3). TRPML1 mutations underlie mucolipidosis-type IV, a neurodegenerative lysosomal storage disorder (Bargal et al. 2000; Sun et al. 2000). TRPML1 activation is neuroprotective (Tsunemi et al. 2019), and Trpml1 knockout female mice exhibit luteal cell degeneration, progesterone deficiency, and infertility (Wang et al. 2019). Thus, the consequences of TRPML1 loss in physiology should also be considered in developing TRPML1-based cancer therapies.

Inactivation of the tumor suppressor VHL is common in clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC) (The Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network 2013; Sato et al. 2013). In VHL-deficient ccRCCs, TRP channel TRPM3 regulates an oncogenic

autophagy network. VHL regulates expression of tumor suppressive microRNA miR-204, derived from intron 6 of the TRPM3 gene. miR-204 targets and inhibits TRPM3, as well as autophagy regulators LC3B and LC3B2. VHL inactivation and miR-204 downregulation elevate autophagy to sustain tumor growth (Mikhaylova et al. 2012). TRPM3 activation and calcium influx regulate autophagy through CAMKK2 and ULK1 signaling, which converge to positively modulate autophagic regulators LC3A/B (Fig. 2). Genetic knockdown or pharmacological inhibition of TRPM3 reduces tumor growth in orthotopic xenograft models (Hall et al. 2014). Mefenamic acid is an orally bioavailable, FDA-approved, non-steroidal antiinflammatory drug (NSAID) that specifically inhibits TRPM3 over other TRP channels (Klose et al. 2011). Mefenamic acid reduces TRPM3 expression and autophagy in VHL-inactive human cancer cells in vitro and decreases tumor growth in subcutaneous xenograft models (Hall et al. 2014). These findings demonstrate the potential to target TRPM3 in cancers with VHL deficiency and increased TRPM3 expression. It remains to be determined whether anti-tumor effects of mefenamic acid, which also inhibits cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes to suppress prostaglandin synthesis, may in part be attributed to a COX-dependent mechanism. Interestingly, upon VHL induction, miR-204 is co-expressed with two short but not full-length TRPM3 transcripts (Mikhaylova et al. 2012). This may be due to a putative promoter upstream of the first exon of shorter transcripts. The contribution of short and fulllength TRPM3 transcripts to ccRCC tumor progression and its upstream regulatory machinery is intriguing. For example, do short TRPM3 transcripts encode functional proteins with a role in tumorigenesis, or are they byproducts of miR-204 activation? Concomitant microRNA expression with shorter gene transcripts may be a general mechanism for intronic miRNAs from long genes. Many ion channels are encoded by long genes spanning multiple exons. The existence and function of microRNAs and alternative isoforms from ion channel genes, particularly in cancer, represent an interesting area for future study.

#### **3.2.2** Tumor Suppressive Ion Channels

Neural progenitor cells possess tumor-suppressive function against high-grade astrocytomas (Stock et al. 2012). Neural progenitors display tropism for brain tumors and release endovanilloids, which act non-cell autonomously on TRPV1 channels expressed in human brain tumor cells to induce cell death via the endoplasmic reticulum stress pathway (Fig. 3). This raises the possibility that neural stem cell therapy or TRPV1 activation may be used to treat brain tumors. As proof of concept, the authors demonstrate that administering the blood-brain barrier permeable synthetic TRPV1 agonist arvanil prolongs survival of xenograft tumor-bearing mice. Interestingly, TRPV1 activation inhibits EGFR-mediated epithelial cell proliferation through calcium and PTP1B signaling, and loss of TRPV1 increases tumor formation in the  $Apc^{min}$  mouse model of intestinal tumorigenesis, suggesting that TRPV1 activation is also tumor suppressive in intestinal cancer (de Jong et al. 2014).

Given the evidence for ion channel involvement in both promoting and inhibiting tumor growth, most ion channels appear to act as neither oncogenes nor tumor suppressors. Rather, ion channel activity must remain within a proper window to facilitate tumorigenesis. Supra-physiological gain- or loss-of-function is likely detrimental to tumor growth.

#### 3.3 Ion Channels in Metastasis

Tumor metastasis comprises a sequence of events that include dissemination of tumor cells from the primary site, survival in the circulatory system, and invasion and colonization of distant locations for neoplastic growth. Most reported functions of ion channels in tumor metastasis are pertinent to cell migration.

In gliomas, genetic knockdown or pharmacological inhibition of calciumactivated potassium channel KCNN4 reduces tumor cell migration in vitro. KCNN4 knockdown in glioma xenografts reduces invasive growth in vivo (Turner et al. 2014). Therefore, KCNN4 may contribute to the diffuse nature of malignant gliomas (Fig. 3).

Expression of potassium channel EAG2 is upregulated in a subset of metastatic medulloblastoma compared to matched primary tumors. EAG2 localizes to the trailing edge of medulloblastoma cells to promote local potassium efflux and rear cell retraction, which are essential for medulloblastoma cell motility (Fig. 3). Targeting EAG2 reduces medulloblastoma metastasis in mouse xenograft models and decreases metastatic burden in a patient with metastatic medulloblastoma (Huang et al. 2015).

STIM and Orai proteins mediate store-operated calcium entry, a calcium influx mechanism in non-excitable cells. Second messenger signaling induces rapid and transient release of calcium from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Decreased ER calcium concentration is sensed by STIM proteins, which cluster near the plasma membrane to complex with the pore-forming Orai for calcium entry. In human breast cancer cells, calcium influx through Orai1 and STIM1 promotes cell migration in vitro through small GTPase-mediated focal adhesion turnover. Store-operated calcium influx may increase FAK tyrosine kinase activity and calcium-dependent protease calpain to regulate focal adhesion dynamics (Fig. 3). Administration of SKF96365, an inhibitor of store-operated calcium entry, reduces breast cancer metastasis from mammary gland to lung in xenograft mouse models (Yang et al. 2009). As SKF96365 also blocks TRPC and low-voltage-activated T-type calcium channels (Singh et al. 2010), additional studies are needed to determine whether the phenotypes can be solely attributed to Orai1. Since genetic or pharmacological manipulations of Orai1/STIM1 also perturbed focal adhesions in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (Yang et al. 2009), future investigation is necessary to determine the full spectrum of phenotypes from pharmacologically targeting this mode of calcium entry.

Orai colocalizes and functionally associates with calcium-activated potassium channel KCNN3 in cancer. In an orthotopic breast cancer xenograft model, KCNN3 knockdown reduces bone metastases without affecting primary tumor growth or lung metastases. KCNN3-Orai1 complexes localize to lipid rafts to regulate calcium entry, calpain activation, and cell migration (Fig. 3). Disruption of KCNN3-Orai1 lipid localization using alkyl-lipid KCNN3 blocker Ohmline impairs calcium influx, migration, and bone metastases (Chantome et al. 2013). Ohmline does not cause systemic toxicity in vivo (Girault et al. 2011). These results suggest that ion channel function depends on precise subcellular localization, which can be leveraged for cancer treatment.

As tumor metastasis involves tumor cell dissemination, intravasation, survival through systemic circulation, extravasation, colonization at a distant site, and eventual metastatic growth, future studies are required to specify which exact steps depend on ion channel function. In addition, it is important to determine whether a particular ion channel is uniquely required for metastasis. If targeting an ion channel reduces the growth of primary tumor and metastasis, it becomes difficult to ascertain whether impaired metastasis is due to a reduction in primary tumor burden or a defect in the metastatic cascade.

# 3.4 Ion Channels in Therapeutic Resistance and Tumor Recurrence

As described above, TRPA1 overexpression promotes tumor cell survival in environments of high oxidative stress. The anti-cancer agent carboplatin, which generates reactive chemicals to cause cell death, induces TRPA1-dependent increases in intracellular calcium concentration and oscillatory calcium responses. In carboplatin-resistant breast cancer cells, TRPA1 inhibition restores carboplatin sensitivity in vitro and in vivo, highlighting the therapeutic potential of TRPA1-based combination therapy (Takahashi et al. 2018). The contribution of ion channels toward tumor recurrence and resistance has not been sufficiently studied in vivo. Some malignancies, such as glioblastoma, recur in nearly all patients despite first-line treatment (Nabors et al. 2017). Future study to target ion channels in both primary and recurrent tumors will provide the foundation to develop new therapies to improve patient outcome.

# 3.5 Therapeutic Potential of Targeting Ion Channels

As small molecules and FDA-approved drugs have been used to target ion channels in cancer, we note that stringent criteria must be upheld in defining on-target versus off-target effects. Pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic data, such as the

maximum tolerated dose, minimum effective concentration, bioavailability, halflife, and systemic toxicity, must be evaluated. Finally, the  $IC_{50}/EC_{50}$  concentrations at which a molecule acts on ion channels should be consistent with the achievable therapeutic concentrations in vivo.

# 4 Emergent Areas of Ion Channels in Cancer and Outlook

# 4.1 Ion Channels in Governing Local Ion Milieu

Most studies in the field focus on how ion channels regulate cancer biology through cell autonomous mechanisms. Intratumoral heterogeneity and cell non-autonomous mechanisms are crucial in fueling malignant growth. For example, reciprocal signaling between stem-like and differentiated tumor cells through growth factor secretion creates a tumor ecosystem to drive glioma progression (Wang et al. 2018). Metabolic adaptation of tumor cells, which reside in either hypoxic or oxygenated niches, induces distinct gene expression programs (Allen et al. 2016; Jin et al. 2017). In this regard, one can imagine that tumor heterogeneity in the local ionic milieu and changes in extracellular ion dynamics may exert cell non-autonomous effects (Fig. 4). Indeed, in mouse and human melanomas, dying tumor cells release intracellular potassium into the extracellular environment. Elevated extracellular



**Fig. 4** Ion channels govern local ion milieu and tumor-immune cell interaction. The contribution of ion channels and the extracellular ionic environment to cell non-autonomous interactions in cancer is largely under-explored. In melanoma, tumor cell death releases potassium ions into the extracellular space. Elevation of extracellular potassium suppresses anti-tumor functions of resident T cells through inhibition of Akt/mTOR signaling, dysregulated metabolism, and altered histone acetylation. Whether perturbing the homeostasis of other ion classes has effects in the tumor microenvironment remains to be determined. *Dotted arrows denote hypothetical functions* 

potassium suppresses the anti-tumor function of T cells through inhibiting Akt/mTOR and PP2A signaling (Eil et al. 2016). In addition, elevated extracellular potassium limits nutrient uptake and reduces the level of metabolic intermediate acetyl-CoA. Decreased acetyl-CoA suppresses histone acetylation of T-cell effector and exhaustion loci to attenuate their anti-tumor activity. These altered T cells display increased stemness and improved persistence in vivo (Vodnala et al. 2019). These data suggest that manipulation of extracellular potassium levels is a strategy to modulate T-cell-based immunotherapy. In addition to melanoma, it would be of interest to determine the effect of extracellular potassium on infiltrated T cells in other types of tumors and normal organs.

Altered extracellular ion concentrations may shift the membrane potential of cancer cells, activate voltage-gated ion channels, and induce bioelectrical signaling (Tuszynski et al. 2017; Payne et al. 2019). Early studies in chick spinal cord neurons implicate membrane potential in cell cycle progression (Cone and Cone 1976). A correlation exists between membrane potential and differentiation status, where more proliferative cells possess depolarized membrane potentials, while terminally differentiated non-dividing cells reside at more hyperpolarized potentials (Cone 1971). In the developing mouse brain, the membrane potential of neural progenitor cells becomes progressively hyperpolarized during corticogenesis. Inducing hyperpolarization in vivo shifts the neurogenic output and transcriptome of progenitor cells toward a later developmental stage (Vitali et al. 2018). Thus, tumor-specific variation in extracellular ionic balance may explain why certain cancers are more malignant than others (Fig. 4). Future study of the functional impact of local ion milieu in cancer may uncover new ion channel targets to modulate tumor growth through cell-autonomous and cell non-autonomous mechanisms.

# 4.2 Ion Channels in Regulating Cell-Cell Interactions

Studies from diverse cancer types show that the nervous system is capable of integrating with cancer cells to form an electrical network (Fig. 5). In the central nervous system (CNS), neuronal activity promotes the growth of primary brain tumors and brain metastasis. In orthotopic PDX models, synapses form between neurons and glioma cells (Venkataramani et al. 2019; Venkatesh et al. 2019). AMPA receptor-mediated postsynaptic activity induces glioma cell depolarization, proliferation, and invasion. Interestingly, neuronal activity induces inward potassium currents in glioma (Venkatesh et al. 2019), pointing toward potassium channels as mediators of this process.

In mouse PDX intracardiac injection models of breast-to-brain metastasis, neoplastic cells form functional neuronal synapses, which promote metastatic colonization in an NMDA signaling-dependent manner. In human brain metastases, components of NMDA receptor signaling are elevated when compared to paired primary breast tumors (Zeng et al. 2019). Outside of brain malignancies, innervation of peripheral nerves promotes tumorigenesis in PDX and transgenic mouse models



**Fig. 5** Ion channels mediate tumor-neuron synapses and propagate electrical signaling. In a network of interconnected tumor cells, electrical activity can occur through gap junction or ion channel-mediated signaling. Propagation of electrical signals mediates interactions between different subclones and buffers tumor cells against therapeutic stress. Surrounding neurons are capable of forming synapses with primary tumor or metastatic tumor cells (*left*). Tumor-neuron synaptic transmission activates neurotransmitter signaling and induces potassium currents and depolarization. Synaptic activity increases tumor proliferation and metastasis (*right*). *Dotted arrows denote hypothetical functions* 

of gastric, prostate, and pancreatic cancer in a paracrine manner (Magnon et al. 2013; Hayakawa et al. 2017; Renz et al. 2018). It would be interesting to determine whether such interactions depend on ion channel-mediated signal propagation to proliferate and metastasize.

Bioelectric signaling in cancer is not a single-cell phenomenon. Altered electrical activity in cancer can propagate through an interconnected network. Gap junctions are intercellular channels formed by connexin proteins. Gap junctions between adjacent cells enable rapid cellular communication through passage of ions, second messengers, and other small molecules. PDX models demonstrate that glioma cells form networks through gap junction coupling (Osswald et al. 2015; Venkataramani et al. 2019; Venkatesh et al. 2019). As gap junctions possess distinct ion permeability, differential gap junction expression determines differences in membrane potential and cancer stem cell self-renewal (Hitomi et al. 2015). Such connectivity can buffer interconnected glioma cells against therapeutic stress (Osswald et al. 2015). Furthermore, rapid propagation of electrical state may enable cooperativity among different tumor subclones. We refer readers to excellent reviews on gap junctions in cancer (Aasen et al. 2016; Sinyuk et al. 2018) and the nascent field of cancer neuroscience (Monje et al. 2020).

In summary, ion channel-mediated electrical activities of tumor-tumor interactions and tumor-neuronal synapses should be considered in order to gain a comprehensive view of the dynamic tumor microenvironment. Pharmacologically manipulating ion channel dependencies may impede malignant growth through impairing tumor electrical activity.

# 4.3 Ion Channels in Sensing and Responding to Mechanical Environment

The mechanical properties of tumors are altered during tumorigenesis (Kumar and Weaver 2009). Pervasive mechanical stress arises from expansion of the tumor mass in confined spaces, infiltration by stromal and immune cells, and increased fluidic components from leaky blood and lymphatic vessels (Northey et al. 2017; Northcott et al. 2018). As solid stress, shear stress, and interstitial fluid pressure co-exist in the tumor, investigating how tumor cells perceive and respond to mechanical microenvironment through mechanosensitive ion channels will uncover new therapeutic opportunities (Fig. 6).



**Fig. 6** Mechanosensitive ion channels sense tissue mechanics and regulate tumor malignancy. Aberrant tissue mechanics is a common feature of solid tumors. Tumor stiffness can be sensed by mechanosensitive ion channels. Distinct tumor regions are mechanically heterogeneous (*left*). In a region of high mechanical stress, mechanosensitive ion channels activate intracellular signaling to drive cell proliferation (*top right*). In regions with elevated interstitial fluid pressure or shear stress, flow-sensitive ion channels expressed in tumor cells or tumor vasculature may be activated to promote tumor growth and microenvironmental remodeling (*bottom right*). *Dotted arrows denote hypothetical functions* 

#### 4.3.1 Solid Stress

Solid stress arises from expansion of the tumor mass and non-fluid tumor components which compress and distend cells and tissues (Jain et al. 2014). Through mechanoreciprocity, solid stress may propagate to the surrounding stromal tissue to increase extracellular matrix (ECM) tension and induce changes to ECM material properties to drive tumor growth (Butcher et al. 2009). In glioma and pancreatic cancer, increased ECM stiffening and elevated epithelial tension are associated with increased malignancy and shorter patient survival. In both types of tumors, elevated tenascin C and STAT3-mediated mechanosignaling form positive feedback loops by further increasing ECM stiffness and tumor aggression (Laklai et al. 2016; Miroshnikova et al. 2016). Recurrent tumors display further stiffening compared to the primary tumors (Miroshnikova et al. 2016). Mechanical heterogeneity in distinct tumor regions may contribute to the growth of heterogeneous tumor cell populations. Mechanosensitive ion channels Piezo and PIEZO1 are evolutionarily conserved regulators of tumor growth in Drosophila and xenograft mouse models of glioma, respectively. Glioma cells perceive microenvironmental stiffness through PIEZO1. PIEZO1 signaling elevates integrin and FAK signaling to increase ECM production, tumor proliferation, and its own expression, forming a feedforward circuit to promote tumor malignancy (Chen et al. 2018).

#### 4.3.2 Shear Stress and Fluid Flow

Dysregulated tumor mechanics impair blood vessel integrity and reduce lymphatic drainage, which lead to increased shear stress and perturbed fluid flow. Decreased circulation can hinder nutrient distribution, drug delivery, and therapeutic response (Tong et al. 2004; Winkler et al. 2004). Fluid mechanics may activate flow-sensitive ion channels, although this notion is yet to be fully elucidated in cancer. In adult mouse neural stem cells of the subependymal zone, flow-sensitive sodium channel ENaC senses ventricular fluid flow to promote proliferation and neurogenic output through Na<sup>+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling, activation of calcium-release activated channels, and ERK signaling (Petrik et al. 2018). ENaC knockdown reduces glioma cell migration in vitro (Kapoor et al. 2009), while its in vivo function in cancer remains to be explored. Tumor angiogenesis, a hallmark of cancer, is the ability for cancers to generate or recruit vasculature to provide oxygen and nutrients to the tumor (Hanahan and Weinberg 2000, 2011). Ion channels have been described in endothelial cells, including the shear stress-activated ENaC (Wang et al. 2009; Guo et al. 2016), and mechanosensitive ion channels such as TRPV4 and PIEZOs (Gerhold and Schwartz 2016). Whether ion channel function in tumor vasculature can be therapeutically exploited remains to be investigated.

In summary, ion channels are expressed in a tissue- or cancer-specific manner that can create actionable therapeutic windows (Table 1). The challenges of cancer plasticity and heterogeneity must be considered when investigating contextdependent ion channel functions. It is important to investigate ion channel function using in vivo model systems that recapitulate physiological features of cancer. Defining the particular stage of tumorigenesis that an ion channel regulates and elucidating its mechanism of action should lead to improved design of targeted therapies. Future studies of non-cell autonomous ion channel functions will uncover how electrical signals propagate through a network of cancer and stromal cells and how ion channels perceive mechanical cues to control tumor malignancy. As this field makes strides forward, we look forward to unlocking the potential to target ion channels in cancer.

Acknowledgment We thank Ali Momin, Hyun-Kee Min, Michelle Francisco, Weifan Dong, and Xin Chen for constructive suggestions on the manuscript. This work is supported by SickKids Foundation, Arthur and Sonia Labatt Brain Tumour Research Centre, Garron Family Cancer Centre, b.r.a.i.n.child, Meagan's Walk, Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC) Discovery Grant, Ontario Institute for Cancer Research (OICR) Translational Research Initiative, Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) Project Grants, Concern Foundation Conquer Cancer Now Award, and Sontag Foundation Distinguished Scientist Award to Xi Huang. Jerry J. Fan is supported by SickKids Restracomp Scholarship. Xi Huang thanks the love and support from Lucas Huang and Liam Huang. Xi Huang is a Catalyst Scholar at The Hospital for Sick Children and Canada Research Chair in Cancer Biophysics.

Declaration of Interest The authors declare no competing financial interests.

### References

- Aasen T, Mesnil M, Naus CC et al (2016) Gap junctions and cancer: communicating for 50 years. Nat Rev Cancer 16:775–788. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2016.105
- Abdul M, Hoosein N (2006) Reduced Kv1.3 potassium channel expression in human prostate cancer. J Membr Biol 214:99–102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00232-006-0065-7
- Agarwal JR, Griesinger F, Stuhmer W, Pardo LA (2010) The potassium channel ether a go-go is a novel prognostic factor with functional relevance in acute myeloid leukemia. Mol Cancer 9:18. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-4598-9-18
- Alexander SPH, Kelly E, Mathie A et al (2019) The concise guide to pharmacology 2019/20: introduction and other protein targets. Br J Pharmacol 176:S1–S20. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph. 14747
- Allen E, Miéville P, Warren CM et al (2016) Metabolic symbiosis enables adaptive resistance to anti-angiogenic therapy that is dependent on mTOR signaling. Cell Rep 15:1144–1160. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2016.04.029
- Bargal R, Avidan N, Ben-Asher E et al (2000) Identification of the gene causing mucolipidosis type IV. Nat Genet 26:118–122. https://doi.org/10.1038/79095
- Bates E (2015) Ion channels in development and cancer. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 31:231–247. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100814-125338
- Bonnet S, Archer SL, Allalunis-Turner J et al (2007) A mitochondria-K+ channel Axis is suppressed in cancer and its normalization promotes apoptosis and inhibits cancer growth. Cancer Cell 11:37–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2006.10.020
- Brevet M, Haren N, Sevestre H et al (2009) DNA methylation of K<sub>v</sub>1.3 potassium channel gene promoter is associated with poorly differentiated breast adenocarcinoma. Cell Physiol Biochem 24:25–32. https://doi.org/10.1159/000227810

- Bulk E, Ay A-S, Hammadi M et al (2015) Epigenetic dysregulation of K <sub>Ca</sub> 3.1 channels induces poor prognosis in lung cancer: K <sub>Ca</sub> 3.1 channel and poor lung cancer prognosis. Int J Cancer 137:1306–1317. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29490
- Butcher DT, Alliston T, Weaver VM (2009) A tense situation: forcing tumour progression. Nat Rev Cancer 9:108–122. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2544
- Cavalli FMG, Remke M, Rampasek L et al (2017) Intertumoral heterogeneity within medulloblastoma subgroups. Cancer Cell 31:737–754.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2017.05.005
- Chantome A, Potier-Cartereau M, Clarysse L et al (2013) Pivotal role of the lipid raft SK3-Orai1 complex in human cancer cell migration and bone metastases. Cancer Res 73:4852–4861. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4572
- Chen C-D, Wang C-S, Huang Y-H et al (2007) Overexpression of CLIC1 in human gastric carcinoma and its clinicopathological significance. Proteomics 7:155–167. https://doi.org/10. 1002/pmic.200600663
- Chen X, Wanggou S, Bodalia A et al (2018) A feedforward mechanism mediated by mechanosensitive ion channel PIEZO1 and tissue mechanics promotes Glioma aggression. Neuron 100:799–815.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2018.09.046
- Choi M, Scholl UI, Yue P et al (2011) K+ channel mutations in adrenal aldosterone-producing adenomas and hereditary hypertension. Science 331:768–772. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 1198785
- Comes N, Bielanska J, Vallejo-Gracia A et al (2013) The voltage-dependent K+ channels Kv1.3 and Kv1.5 in human cancer. Front Physiol 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2013.00283
- Cone CD (1971) Unified theory on the basic mechanism of normal mitotic control and oncogenesis. J Theor Biol 30:151–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-5193(71)90042-7
- Cone C, Cone C (1976) Induction of mitosis in mature neurons in central nervous system by sustained depolarization. Science 192:155–158. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.56781
- Crottès D, Lin Y-HT, Peters CJ et al (2019) TMEM16A controls EGF-induced calcium signaling implicated in pancreatic cancer prognosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116:13026–13035. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1900703116
- Cuddapah VA, Sontheimer H (2011) Ion channels and transporters in cancer. 2. ion channels and the control of cancer cell migration. Am J Phys Cell Phys 301:C541–C549. https://doi.org/10. 1152/ajpcell.00102.2011
- de Jong PR, Takahashi N, Harris AR et al (2014) Ion channel TRPV1-dependent activation of PTP1B suppresses EGFR-associated intestinal tumorigenesis. J Clin Invest 124:3793–3806. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI72340
- den Uil SH, Coupé VMH, Linnekamp JF et al (2016) Loss of KCNQ1 expression in stage II and stage III colon cancer is a strong prognostic factor for disease recurrence. Br J Cancer 115:1565–1574. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2016.376
- Ding Q, Li M, Wu X et al (2015) CLIC1 overexpression is associated with poor prognosis in gallbladder cancer. Tumor Biol 36:193–198. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-014-2606-5
- Djamgoz MBA, Onkal R (2012) Persistent current blockers of voltage-gated sodium channels: a clinical opportunity for controlling metastatic disease. PRA 8:66–84. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 1574892811308010066
- Eil R, Vodnala SK, Clever D et al (2016) Ionic immune suppression within the tumour microenvironment limits T cell effector function. Nature 537:539–543. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature19364
- Francisco MA, Wanggou S, Fan JJ et al (2020) Chloride intracellular channel 1 cooperates with potassium channel EAG2 to promote medulloblastoma growth. J Exp Med 217:e20190971. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20190971
- Fraser SP, Ozerlat-Gunduz I, Brackenbury WJ et al (2014) Regulation of voltage-gated sodium channel expression in cancer: hormones, growth factors and auto-regulation. Philos Trans R Soc B 369:20130105. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0105
- Gerhold KA, Schwartz MA (2016) Ion channels in endothelial responses to fluid shear stress. Physiology 31:359–369. https://doi.org/10.1152/physiol.00007.2016

- Girault A, Haelters J-P, Potier-Cartereau M et al (2011) New alkyl-lipid blockers of SK3 channels reduce Cancer cell migration and occurrence of metastasis. CCDT 11:1111–1125. https://doi.org/10.2174/156800911798073069
- Guo D, Liang S, Wang S et al (2016) Role of epithelial Na<sup>+</sup> channels in endothelial function. J Cell Sci 129:290–297. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.168831
- Hall DP, Cost NG, Hegde S et al (2014) TRPM3 and miR-204 establish a regulatory circuit that controls oncogenic autophagy in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Cell 26:738–753. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2014.09.015
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2000) The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100:57–70. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0092-8674(00)81683-9
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2011) Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144:646–674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Hartung F, Stühmer W, Pardo LA (2011) Tumor cell-selective apoptosis induction through targeting of KV10.1 via bifunctional TRAIL antibody. Mol Cancer 10:109. https://doi.org/10. 1186/1476-4598-10-109
- Hashimoto T, Ogawa R, Yoshida H et al (2019) EIF3E-RSPO2 and PIEZO1-RSPO2 fusions in colorectal traditional serrated adenoma. Histopathol His:13867. https://doi.org/10.1111/his. 13867
- Hayakawa Y, Sakitani K, Konishi M et al (2017) Nerve growth factor promotes gastric tumorigenesis through aberrant cholinergic signaling. Cancer Cell 31:21–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ccell.2016.11.005
- Hemmerlein B, Weseloh RM, Mello de Queiroz F et al (2006) Overexpression of Eag1 potassium channels in clinical tumours. Mol Cancer 5:41. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-4598-5-41
- Hille B (2001) Ion channels of excitable membranes, 3rd edn. Sinauer Associates is an imprint of Oxford University Press, Sunderland
- Hitomi M, Deleyrolle LP, Mulkearns-Hubert EE et al (2015) Differential connexin function enhances self-renewal in glioblastoma. Cell Rep 11:1031–1042. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. celrep.2015.04.021
- Huang X, Jan LY (2014) Targeting potassium channels in cancer. J Cell Biol 206:151–162. https:// doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201404136
- Huang X, Dubuc AM, Hashizume R et al (2012) Voltage-gated potassium channel EAG2 controls mitotic entry and tumor growth in medulloblastoma via regulating cell volume dynamics. Genes Dev 26:1780–1796. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.193789.112
- Huang X, He Y, Dubuc AM et al (2015) EAG2 potassium channel with evolutionarily conserved function as a brain tumor target. Nat Neurosci 18:1236–1246. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4088
- Innamaa A, Jackson L, Asher V et al (2013) Expression and prognostic significance of the oncogenic K2P potassium channel KCNK9 (TASK-3) in ovarian carcinoma. Anticancer Res 8
- Jain RK, Martin JD, Stylianopoulos T (2014) The role of mechanical forces in tumor growth and therapy. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 16:321–346. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-bioeng-071813-105259
- Jang SH, Choi SY, Ryu PD, Lee SY (2011) Anti-proliferative effect of Kv1.3 blockers in A549 human lung adenocarcinoma in vitro and in vivo. Eur J Pharmacol 651:26–32. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ejphar.2010.10.066
- Jia N, Dong S, Zhao G et al (2016) CLIC1 overexpression is associated with poor prognosis in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinomas. J Cancer Res Ther 12:892–896. https://doi.org/10.4103/ 0973-1482.154057
- Jin X, Kim LJY, Wu Q et al (2017) Targeting glioma stem cells through combined BMI1 and EZH2 inhibition. Nat Med 23:1352–1361. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4415
- Joshi AD, Parsons D, Velculescu VE, Riggins GJ (2011) Sodium ion channel mutations in glioblastoma patients correlate with shorter survival. Mol Cancer 10:17. https://doi.org/10. 1186/1476-4598-10-17
- Jung J, Cho K, Naji AK et al (2019) HRAS-driven cancer cells are vulnerable to TRPML1 inhibition. EMBO Rep 20. https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201846685

- Kapoor N, Bartoszewski R, Qadri YJ et al (2009) Knockdown of ASIC1 and epithelial sodium channel subunits inhibits glioblastoma whole cell current and cell migration. J Biol Chem 284:24526–24541. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.037390
- Kasitinon SY, Eskiocak U, Martin M et al (2019) TRPML1 promotes protein homeostasis in melanoma cells by negatively regulating MAPK and mTORC1 signaling. Cell Rep 28:2293–2305.e9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.07.086
- Kim CJ, Cho YG, Jeong SW et al (2004) Altered expression of KCNK9 in colorectal cancers. APMIS 112:588–594. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0463.2004.apm1120905.x
- Klose C, Straub I, Riehle M et al (2011) Fenamates as TRP channel blockers: mefenamic acid selectively blocks TRPM3: mefenamic acid selectively blocks TRPM3. Br J Pharmacol 162:1757–1769. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.01186.x
- Kumar S, Weaver VM (2009) Mechanics, malignancy, and metastasis: the force journey of a tumor cell. Cancer Metastasis Rev 28:113–127. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10555-008-9173-4
- Laklai H, Miroshnikova YA, Pickup MW et al (2016) Genotype tunes pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma tissue tension to induce matricellular fibrosis and tumor progression. Nat Med 22:497–505. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4082
- Lang F, Föller M, Lang KS et al (2005) Ion channels in cell proliferation and apoptotic cell death. J Membr Biol 205:147–157. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00232-005-0780-5
- Lastraioli E, Guasti L, Crociani O et al (2004) herg1 gene and HERG1 protein are overexpressed in colorectal cancers and regulate cell invasion of tumor cells. Cancer Res 64:606–611. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-2360
- Leanza L, Henry B, Sassi N et al (2012) Inhibitors of mitochondrial Kv1.3 channels induce Bax/ Bak-independent death of cancer cells. EMBO Mol Med 4:577–593. https://doi.org/10.1002/ emmm.201200235
- Leanza L, Trentin L, Becker KA et al (2013) Clofazimine, Psora-4 and PAP-1, inhibitors of the potassium channel Kv1.3, as a new and selective therapeutic strategy in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia 27:1782–1785. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2013.56
- Leanza L, Romio M, Becker KA et al (2017) Direct pharmacological targeting of a mitochondrial ion channel selectively kills tumor cells in vivo. Cancer Cell 31:516–531.e10. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ccell.2017.03.003
- Li C, Rezania S, Kammerer S et al (2015) Piezo1 forms mechanosensitive ion channels in the human MCF-7 breast cancer cell line. Sci Rep 5:8364. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep08364
- Li B, Mao Y, Wang Z et al (2018) CLIC1 promotes the progression of gastric cancer by regulating the MAPK/AKT pathways. Cell Physiol Biochem 46:907–924. https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000488822
- Lu J, Dong Q, Zhang B et al (2015) Chloride intracellular channel 1 (CLIC1) is activated and functions as an oncogene in pancreatic cancer. Med Oncol 32:171. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12032-015-0616-9
- Magnon C, Hall SJ, Lin J et al (2013) Autonomic nerve development contributes to prostate cancer progression. Science 341:1236361–1236361. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1236361
- Maisonneuve P, Marshall BC, Knapp EA, Lowenfels AB (2013) Cancer risk in cystic fibrosis: a 20-year nationwide study from the United States. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst 105:122–129. https:// doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djs481
- Mello de Queiroz F, Suarez-Kurtz G, Stühmer W, Pardo LA (2006) Ether à go-go potassium channel expression in soft tissue sarcoma patients. Mol Cancer 5:42. https://doi.org/10.1186/ 1476-4598-5-42
- Mikhaylova O, Stratton Y, Hall D et al (2012) VHL-regulated MiR-204 suppresses tumor growth through inhibition of LC3B-mediated autophagy in renal clear cell carcinoma. Cancer Cell 21:532–546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2012.02.019
- Miroshnikova YA, Mouw JK, Barnes JM et al (2016) Tissue mechanics promote IDH1-dependent HIF1α-tenascin C feedback to regulate glioblastoma aggression. Nat Cell Biol 18:1336–1345. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3429

- Monje M, Borniger JC, D'Silva NJ et al (2020) Roadmap for the emerging field of cancer neuroscience. Cell 181:219–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.03.034
- Monteith GR, Prevarskaya N, Roberts-Thomson SJ (2017) The calcium–cancer signalling nexus. Nat Rev Cancer 17:373–380. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2017.18
- Morelli MB, Nabissi M, Amantini C et al (2016) Overexpression of transient receptor potential mucolipin-2 ion channels in gliomas: role in tumor growth and progression. Oncotarget 7. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.9661
- Mu D, Chen L, Zhang X et al (2003) Genomic amplification and oncogenic properties of the KCNK9 potassium channel gene. Cancer Cell 3:297–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1535-6108 (03)00054-0
- Nabors LB, Portnow J, Ammirati M et al (2017) NCCN guidelines insights: central nervous system cancers, version 1.2017. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw 15:1331–1345. https://doi.org/10.6004/ jnccn.2017.0166
- Napp J, Pardo LA, Hartung F et al (2016) In vivo imaging of tumour xenografts with an antibody targeting the potassium channel Kv10.1. Eur Biophys J 45:721–733. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00249-016-1152-z
- Neglia JP, FitzSimmons SC, Maisonneuve P et al (1995) The risk of cancer among patients with cystic fibrosis. N Engl J Med 332:494–499. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199502233320803
- Northcott PA, Korshunov A, Witt H et al (2011) Medulloblastoma comprises four distinct molecular variants. JCO 29:1408–1414. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.27.4324
- Northcott JM, Dean IS, Mouw JK, Weaver VM (2018) Feeling stress: the mechanics of cancer progression and aggression. Front Cell Dev Biol 6:17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2018.00017
- Northey JJ, Przybyla L, Weaver VM (2017) Tissue force programs cell fate and tumor aggression. Cancer Discov 7:1224–1237. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-16-0733
- Osswald M, Jung E, Sahm F et al (2015) Brain tumour cells interconnect to a functional and resistant network. Nature 528:93–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16071
- Ouadid-Ahidouch H, Dhennin-Duthille I, Gautier M et al (2013) TRP channels: diagnostic markers and therapeutic targets for breast cancer? Trends Mol Med 19:117–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.molmed.2012.11.004
- Overington JP, Al-Lazikani B, Hopkins AL (2006) How many drug targets are there? Nat Rev Drug Discov 5:993–996. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2199
- Pardo LA, Stühmer W (2014) The roles of K+ channels in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 14:39–48. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3635
- Pardo LA, del Camino D, Sánchez A et al (1999) Oncogenic potential of EAG K(+) channels. EMBO J 18:5540–5547. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/18.20.5540
- Payne SL, Levin M, Oudin MJ (2019) Bioelectric control of metastasis in solid tumors. Bioelectricity 1:114–130. https://doi.org/10.1089/bioe.2019.0013
- Peretti M, Angelini M, Savalli N et al (2015) Chloride channels in cancer: focus on chloride intracellular channel 1 and 4 (CLIC1 AND CLIC4) proteins in tumor development and as novel therapeutic targets. Biochim Biophys Acta Biomembr 1848:2523–2531. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbamem.2014.12.012
- Petrik D, Myoga MH, Grade S et al (2018) Epithelial sodium channel regulates adult neural stem cell proliferation in a flow-dependent manner. Cell Stem Cell 22:865–878.e8. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.stem.2018.04.016
- Piggott BJ, Peters CJ, He Y et al (2019) Paralytic, the *Drosophila* voltage-gated sodium channel, regulates proliferation of neural progenitors. Genes Dev 33:1739–1750. https://doi.org/10.1101/ gad.330597.119
- Pollak J, Rai KG, Funk CC et al (2017) Ion channel expression patterns in glioblastoma stem cells with functional and therapeutic implications for malignancy. PLoS One 12:e0172884. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0172884
- Preußat K, Beetz C, Schrey M et al (2003) Expression of voltage-gated potassium channels Kv1.3 and Kv1.5 in human gliomas. Neurosci Lett 346:33–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940 (03)00562-7

- Prevarskaya N, Skryma R, Shuba Y (2011) Calcium in tumour metastasis: new roles for known actors. Nat Rev Cancer 11:609–618. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3105
- Prevarskaya N, Skryma R, Shuba Y (2018) Ion channels in cancer: are cancer hallmarks oncochannelopathies? Physiol Rev 98:559–621. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00044.2016
- Rabjerg M, Oliván-Viguera A, Hansen LK et al (2015) High expression of KCa3.1 in patients with clear cell renal carcinoma predicts high metastatic risk and poor survival. PLoS One 10: e0122992. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0122992
- Remke M, Hielscher T, Northcott PA et al (2011) Adult medulloblastoma comprises three major molecular variants. JCO 29:2717–2723. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2011.34.9373
- Renz BW, Tanaka T, Sunagawa M et al (2018) Cholinergic signaling via muscarinic receptors directly and indirectly suppresses pancreatic tumorigenesis and cancer stemness. Cancer Discov 8:1458–1473. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0046
- Roger S, Gillet L, Le Guennec J-Y, Besson P (2015) Voltage-gated sodium channels and cancer: is excitability their primary role? Front Pharmacol 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2015.00152
- Santoni G, Farfariello V (2011) TRP channels and cancer: new targets for diagnosis and chemotherapy. EMIDDT 11:54–67. https://doi.org/10.2174/187153011794982068
- Sato Y, Yoshizato T, Shiraishi Y et al (2013) Integrated molecular analysis of clear-cell renal cell carcinoma. Nat Genet 45:860–867. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2699
- Schmitz A, Sankaranarayanan A, Azam P et al (2005) Design of PAP-1, a selective small molecule Kv1.3 blocker, for the suppression of effector memory T cells in autoimmune diseases. Mol Pharmacol 68:1254–1270. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.105.015669
- Schneider SW, Pagel P, Rotsch C et al (2000) Volume dynamics in migrating epithelial cells measured with atomic force microscopy. Pflugers Arch - Eur J Physiol 439:297–303. https://doi. org/10.1007/s004249900176
- Scholl UI, Goh G, Stölting G et al (2013) Somatic and germline CACNA1D calcium channel mutations in aldosterone-producing adenomas and primary aldosteronism. Nat Genet 45:1050–1054. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2695
- Scholl UI, Abriola L, Zhang C et al (2017) Macrolides selectively inhibit mutant KCNJ5 potassium channels that cause aldosterone-producing adenoma. J Clin Investig 127:2739–2750. https:// doi.org/10.1172/JCI91733
- Schwab A, Gabriel K, Finsterwalder F et al (1995) Polarized ion transport during migration of transformed Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. Pflugers Arch 430:802–807. https://doi.org/10. 1007/bf00386179
- Schwab A, Fabian A, Hanley PJ, Stock C (2012) Role of ion channels and transporters in cell migration. Physiol Rev 92:1865–1913. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00018.2011
- Seshagiri S, Stawiski EW, Durinck S et al (2012) Recurrent R-spondin fusions in colon cancer. Nature 488:660–664. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11282
- Setti M, Savalli N, Osti D et al (2013) Functional role of CLIC1 Ion channel in glioblastomaderived stem/progenitor cells. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst 105:1644–1655. https://doi.org/10.1093/ jnci/djt278
- Sharma J, Deb B, George IA et al (2019) Somatic mutations profile of a young patient with metastatic Urothelial carcinoma reveals mutations in genes involved in ion channels. Front Oncol 9:435. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.00435
- Singh A, Hildebrand M, Garcia E, Snutch T (2010) The transient receptor potential channel antagonist SKF96365 is a potent blocker of low-voltage-activated T-type calcium channels: SKF96365 block of T-type calcium channels. Br J Pharmacol 160:1464–1475. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.00786.x
- Sinyuk M, Mulkearns-Hubert EE, Reizes O, Lathia J (2018) Cancer connectors: connexins, gap junctions, and communication. Front Oncol 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2018.00646
- Starr TK, Allaei R, Silverstein KAT et al (2009) A transposon-based genetic screen in mice identifies genes altered in colorectal cancer. Science 323:1747–1750. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1163040

- Stock K, Kumar J, Synowitz M et al (2012) Neural precursor cells induce cell death of high-grade astrocytomas through stimulation of TRPV1. Nat Med 18:1232–1238. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nm.2827
- Sun M, Goldin E, Stahl S et al (2000) Mucolipidosis type IV is caused by mutations in a gene encoding a novel transient receptor potential channel. Hum Mol Genet 9:2471–2478. https://doi. org/10.1093/hmg/9.17.2471
- Szabo I, Bock J, Grassme H et al (2008) Mitochondrial potassium channel Kv1.3 mediates Bax-induced apoptosis in lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci 105:14861–14866. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.0804236105
- Takahashi N, Chen H-Y, Harris IS et al (2018) Cancer cells co-opt the neuronal redox-Sensing Channel TRPA1 to promote oxidative-stress tolerance. Cancer Cell 33:985–1003.e7. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ccell.2018.05.001
- Taylor MD, Northcott PA, Korshunov A et al (2012) Molecular subgroups of medulloblastoma: the current consensus. Acta Neuropathol 123:465–472. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-011-0922-z
- Than BLN, Goos JACM, Sarver AL et al (2014) The role of KCNQ1 in mouse and human gastrointestinal cancers. Oncogene 33:3861–3868. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2013.350
- Than BLN, Linnekamp JF, Starr TK et al (2016) CFTR is a tumor suppressor gene in murine and human intestinal cancer. Oncogene 35:4191–4199. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2015.483
- The Cancer Genome Atlas Network (2012a) Comprehensive molecular characterization of human colon and rectal cancer. Nature 487:330–337. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11252
- The Cancer Genome Atlas Network (2012b) Comprehensive molecular portraits of human breast tumours. Nature 490:61–70. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11412
- The Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network (2008) Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. Nature 455:1061–1068. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature07385
- The Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network (2011) Integrated genomic analyses of ovarian carcinoma. Nature 474:609–615. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10166
- The Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network (2012) Comprehensive genomic characterization of squamous cell lung cancers. Nature 489:519–525. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11404
- The Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network (2013) Comprehensive molecular characterization of clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Nature 499:43–49. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12222
- Tong RT, Boucher Y, Kozin SV et al (2004) Vascular normalization by vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 blockade induces a pressure gradient across the vasculature and improves drug penetration in tumors. Cancer Res 64:3731–3736. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-0074
- Tsunemi T, Perez-Rosello T, Ishiguro Y et al (2019) Increased Lysosomal exocytosis induced by Lysosomal Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel agonists protects human dopaminergic neurons from α-synuclein toxicity. J Neurosci 39:5760–5772. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3085-18.2019
- Turner KL, Honasoge A, Robert SM et al (2014) A proinvasive role for the Ca <sup>2+</sup>-activated K <sup>+</sup> channel KCa3.1 in malignant glioma. Glia 62:971–981. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.22655
- Tuszynski J, Tilli TM, Levin M (2017) Ion channel and neurotransmitter modulators as electroceutical approaches to the control of cancer. Curr Pharm Des 23:4827–4841. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612823666170530105837
- Venkataramani V, Tanev DI, Strahle C et al (2019) Glutamatergic synaptic input to glioma cells drives brain tumour progression. Nature 573:532–538. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1564-x
- Venkatesh HS, Morishita W, Geraghty AC et al (2019) Electrical and synaptic integration of glioma into neural circuits. Nature 573:539–545. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1563-y
- Vitali I, Fièvre S, Telley L et al (2018) Progenitor hyperpolarization regulates the sequential generation of neuronal subtypes in the developing Neocortex. Cell 174:1264–1276.e15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.06.036
- Vodnala SK, Eil R, Kishton RJ et al (2019) T cell stemness and dysfunction in tumors are triggered by a common mechanism. Science 363:eaau0135. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau0135

- Wang S, Meng F, Mohan S et al (2009) Functional ENaC channels expressed in endothelial cells: a new candidate for mediating shear force. Microcirculation 16:276–287. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10739680802653150
- Wang W, Xu X, Wang W et al (2011) The expression and clinical significance of CLIC1 and HSP27 in lung adenocarcinoma. Tumor Biol 32:1199–1208. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-011-0223-0
- Wang R, Gurguis CI, Gu W et al (2015) Ion channel gene expression predicts survival in glioma patients. Sci Rep 5:11593. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep11593
- Wang H-Y, Wang W, Liu Y-W et al (2017a) Role of KCNB1 in the prognosis of gliomas and autophagy modulation. Sci Rep 7:14. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-00045-7
- Wang L, Hao J, Zhang Y et al (2017b) Orail mediates tumor-promoting store-operated Ca2+ entry in human gastrointestinal stromal tumors via c-KIT and the extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway. Tumour Biol 39:1010428317691426. https://doi.org/10.1177/1010428317691426
- Wang X, Prager BC, Wu Q et al (2018) Reciprocal signaling between Glioblastoma stem cells and differentiated tumor cells promotes malignant progression. Cell Stem Cell 22:514–528.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2018.03.011
- Wang Z, El Zowalaty AE, Li Y et al (2019) Association of luteal cell degeneration and progesterone deficiency with lysosomal storage disorder mucolipidosis type IV in Mcoln1–/– mouse model<sup>†</sup>. Biol Reprod 101:782–790. https://doi.org/10.1093/biolre/ioz126
- Winkler F, Kozin SV, Tong RT et al (2004) Kinetics of vascular normalization by VEGFR2 blockade governs brain tumor response to radiation: role of oxygenation, angiopoietin-1, and matrix metalloproteinases. Cancer Cell 6:553–563. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2004.10.011
- Yang M, Brackenbury WJ (2013) Membrane potential and cancer progression. Front Physiol 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2013.00185
- Yang S, Zhang JJ, Huang X-Y (2009) Orai1 and STIM1 are critical for breast tumor cell migration and metastasis. Cancer Cell 15:124–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2008.12.019
- Yang H, Zhang Q, He J, Lu W (2010) Regulation of calcium signaling in lung cancer. J Thorac Dis 2:52–56
- Zeng Q, Michael IP, Zhang P et al (2019) Synaptic proximity enables NMDAR signalling to promote brain metastasis. Nature 573:526–531. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1576-6
- Zhang J, Zhou Y, Huang T et al (2018) PIEZO1 functions as a potential oncogene by promoting cell proliferation and migration in gastric carcinogenesis. Mol Carcinog 57:1144–1155. https://doi.org/10.1002/mc.22831